










 

 

BPI Capital Corporation 
 

Statements of Financial Position 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 

 Notes 2022 2021 

 
ASSETS 

    
Cash and cash equivalents 2 1,542,184,812  451,519,469  
Investment securities 3 2,044,534,670  2,765,356,357 
Trade receivables, net 4 114,670 6,203,570  
Property and equipment, net 6 14,288,926 24,333,393 
Investment in a subsidiary 5 202,361,610 202,361,610 

Other assets, net 8 58,590,012 48,689,525  

    Total assets  3,862,074,700 3,498,463,924 

 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

    
Liabilities    

Accounts payable and other liabilities  9 68,798,441 82,225,465 
Lease liability 17 5,188,861 19,763,964 

Deferred income tax liabilities, net 7 40,318,561 47,142,131 

Total liabilities  114,305,863 149,131,560 

    
Equity    
Share capital  506,435,080  506,435,080  
Share premium  260,364,020  260,364,020  
Accumulated reserves    (105,290,588)  (127,313,581) 

Retained earnings   3,086,260,325  2,709,846,845  

    Total equity 10 3,747,768,837 3,349,332,364 

    Total liabilities and equity  3,862,074,700 3,498,463,924 

 
 

(The notes on pages 1 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.)



 

 

BPI Capital Corporation 
 

Statements of Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 

 Notes 2022 2021 

Income    
  Fees and commissions 11 1,018,480,493 943,360,465 
  Dividend income 3 23,160,501 14,081,620 
  Interest income 12 13,194,878 25,399,454 
  Foreign exchange gain, net 18 12,966,794 29,545,452 
  Trading gain, net 3  - - 53,381,833 
  Miscellaneous income   1,367,540 1,540,571 

  1,069,170,206 1,067,309,395 

Expenses     
  Trading loss, net 3 173,801,313 - 
  Compensation and fringe benefits 15 161,317,912 163,246,165 
  Occupancy and equipment-related expense 6,17 73,232,338 62,058,790 
  Gross receipts tax  57,702,132 53,953,163 
  Management and other professional fees  4,443,424 739,121 
  Brokerage and underwriting fees  2,256,265 20,801,156 
  Taxes and licenses  1,655,176 1,099,274 
  Other operating expenses 13 63,115,923 50,079,578 

  537,524,483  351,977,247 

Profit before income tax   531,645,723  715,332,148  

Income tax expense (benefit)    
  Current  158,676,149 159,791,489 
  Deferred 7 (3,443,906) 6,432,199 

 14 155,232,243 166,223,688 

Net income for the year  376,413,480  549,108,460  

 
 

(The notes on pages 1 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.)



 

 

BPI Capital Corporation 
 

Statements of Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 
 

 Notes 2022 2021 

Net income for the year  376,413,480 549,108,460 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 10   
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss    

Net change in fair value reserve on investments in debt 
instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI), net of tax  3 - 70,798,715 

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss    
Net change in fair value reserve on investments in equity 

instruments measured at FVOCI, net of tax 3 25,984,832 (42,325,901) 
Remeasurements of defined benefit obligation, net of tax 15 (4,755,172) 4,608,906 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax   21,229,660 33,081,720 

Total comprehensive income for the year  397,643,140 582,190,180 

 
 

(The notes on pages 1 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.)  



 

 

BPI Capital Corporation 
 

Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 
 

 
Share capital 

(Note 10) 
Share  

premium 

Accumulated 
reserves 
(Note 10) 

Retained 
earnings 
(Note 10) Total equity 

Balances at January 1, 2021 506,435,080 260,364,020 (28,776,150) 3,028,144,259 3,766,167,209 

Comprehensive income      
Net income for the year     -        -        -     549,108,460   549,108,460  
Other comprehensive income     -        -     33,081,720      -     33,081,720  

Total comprehensive income     -        -     33,081,720   549,108,460   582,190,180  

Transactions with owner      
Exercise of stock options     -        -    977,072     -    977,072 
Cash dividends declared and paid     -        -        -    (1,000,000,000) (1,000,000,000) 

Total transactions with owner     -        -    977,072 (1,000,000,000) (999,022,928) 

Other movements      
Transfer from accumulated 

reserves to retained earnings     -        -    (1,315,500) 1,315,500     -    
Other adjustments     -        -        -    (2,097) (2,097) 

Total other movements     -        -    (1,315,500) 1,313,403  (2,097)   

Balances at December 31, 2021 506,435,080 260,364,020 3,967,142 2,578,566,122 3,349,332,364 

Other movements      
Transfer from accumulated 

reserves to retained earnings 
(Note 20.21)     -     -    (131,280,723) 131,280,723 - 

Balances at December 31, 2021, 
as reclassified 506,435,080 260,364,020 (127,313,581) 2,709,846,845 3,349,332,364 

Comprehensive income      
Net income for the year - - - 376,413,480 376,413,480 
Other comprehensive income - - 21,229,660 - 21,229,660 

Total comprehensive income - - 21,229,660 376,413,480 397,643,140 

Transaction with owner      
Employee stock option plan 

amortization - - 793,333 - 793,333 

Balances at December 31, 2022 506,435,080 260,364,020 (105,290,588) 3,086,260,325 3,747,768,837 

 
 

 (The notes on pages 1 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.)  
  
  



 

 

BPI Capital Corporation 
 

Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 (All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 

 Notes 2022 2021 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before income tax  531,645,723 715,332,148 
Adjustments for:    

Unrealized fair value loss (gain) on financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 3 

 
110,762,732 

 
(18,042,994) 

Depreciation  6 15,470,907 16,169,570 
Write-off of derivatives  3 9,802,259 - 
Interest expense 17 908,754 1,846,789 
Stock option plan amortization 10 793,333 (338,429) 
Provision for (reversal of) allowance for impairment 

losses 4 
 

4,878 
 

(3,807) 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain), net  18 1,001 (6,642) 
Gain on sale of property and equipment 6 (177,191) - 
Interest income 12 (13,194,878) (25,399,454) 
Dividend income 3 (23,160,501) (14,081,620) 
Amortization of financial assets at amortized cost 3 - (1,610,335) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
(Increase) decrease in:    

Investment securities  72,621,605 17,826,336 
Trade and other receivables  6,084,022 20,331,436 
Other assets  (16,261,525) (4,405,830) 

Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities  4,278,093 8,386,336 

Cash generated from operations  699,579,212 716,003,504 
Interest received 12 13,194,878  25,399,454  
Payment of interest portion of lease liability 17 (908,754)  (1,846,789) 
Income taxes paid  (169,493,453)  (176,436,218) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  542,371,883 563,119,951 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Acquisition of financial assets at FVOCI 3 (18,054,000) (114,028,664)  
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVOCI 3 - 294,547,374 
Dividends received 3,5 23,160,501  14,081,620  
Acquisition of property and equipment 6 (7,969,808)  (4,800,000) 
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment 6 2,720,559  2,023,766 

Net cash generated from investing activities  (142,748) 191,824,096 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Payment of principal portion of lease liability 17 (14,575,103)  (12,983,738) 
Maturities of investment securities at amortized cost 3 554,355,000 - 
Interest received from investment in amortized cost 3 8,657,312 - 
Cash dividends paid 10 -  (1,000,000,000) 

Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities  548,437,209  (1,012,983,738) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  

 
1,090,666,344 

 
(258,039,691) 

Cash and cash equivalents    
January 1  451,519,469 709,552,518 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  (1,001) 6,642 

December 31 2 1,542,184,812 451,519,469 

 
(The notes on pages 1 to 46 are an integral part of these financial statements.)



 

 

BPI Capital Corporation 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 
(All amounts are shown in Philippine Peso, unless otherwise stated) 
 
 
Note 1 - General Information 
 
BPI Capital Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 5, 1976 primarily to act as an institutional 
vehicle by and through which the business of financial intermediation may be provided by carrying out 
and exercising the powers, rights, privileges, and attributes of an investment house as may be allowed 
under applicable laws. 
 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank of the Philippine Islands (the “Parent Bank” or 
“BPI”), a commercial bank with an expanded banking license registered in the Philippines and listed in 
the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). 
 
The Company’s office address, which also serves as its principal place of business, is on the 11th Floor, 
Ayala North Exchange Tower One, Ayala Avenue corner Salcedo Street, Legaspi Village, Makati City.   
 
The Company has 54 employees as at December 31, 2022 (2021 - 60 employees). 
 
Approval and authorization for issuance of the financial statements 
 
These financial statements have been approved and authorized for issuance by the Company’s Board of 
Directors (BOD) on April 19, 2023.  
 
Note 2 - Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 

 

  2022 2021 

Cash in bank  142,184,812  200,520,469  
Time deposits  1,400,000,000  250,999,000  

  1,542,184,812  451,519,469  

 
Interest income earned from cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 12. 
 
As at December 31, 2022, time deposits have maturities of 56 to 90 days (2021 - 19 to 20 days) with 
interest rates of 0.125% to 5.00% (2021 - 0.05% to 1.00%). 
 
The Company grew its time deposit placements in 2022 to take advantage of higher yield and more stable 
rates as compared to other investments. 
 
Note 3 - Investment securities 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 
 

 2022 2021 

Financial assets at FVTPL 1,002,039,465 1,277,069,658 
Financial assets at FVOCI 1,042,495,205 925,274,387 
Investment securities at amortized cost -  563,012,312 

 2,044,534,670  2,765,356,357 
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a) Financial assets at FVTPL 
 

 2022 2021 

Debt securities 855,678,648 1,078,774,238 
Listed equity securities 146,066,914 188,493,161 
Derivatives 293,903 9,802,259 

 1,002,039,465 1,277,069,658 

  
Listed equity securities are issued by Philippine corporations and traded in the PSE. Dividend 
income earned from investments in equity securities for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounts 
to P6,977,965 (2021 - P2,336,101).  
 
Debt securities consist of treasury bills and mutual funds and money market placements managed by 
the Company’s fund manager. These are expected to be realized within one year from reporting dates. 
 
In 2022, derivatives pertain to foreign exchange forwards which represent commitments to purchase 
or sell one currency against another at an agreed forward rate on a specified date in the future. 
Settlement can be made via full delivery of forward proceeds or via payment of the difference (non-
deliverable forward) between the contracted forward rate and the prevailing market rate at maturity.  
 
Derivatives in 2021 amounting to P9,802,259 pertain to an equity warrant to purchase shares of 
stock of a domestic corporation. This was fully impaired in 2022. 
 
Details of trading (loss) gain, net for the years ended December 31 on financial assets at FVTPL are 
summarized below: 

 

 2022 2021 

Realized (loss) gain  (63,038,581)  35,338,839  
Unrealized fair value (loss) gain  (110,762,732)  18,042,994  

 (173,801,313)  53,381,833  

 
Critical accounting estimate - Determination of fair value of derivatives 

 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using 
generally accepted valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, discounted cash 
flow models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by 
qualified personnel independent of the area that created them. Inputs used in these models are from 
observable data and quoted market prices in respect of similar financial instruments. 
 
All models are approved by the BOD before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that 
outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. Changes in assumptions about these 
factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments. The possible effects of sensitivities 
surrounding the fair value of derivatives are deemed immaterial for financial reporting purposes. 

 
b) Financial assets at FVOCI 
 

 2022 2021 

Unlisted 764,700,475 644,162,705  
Listed 277,794,730  281,111,682  

 1,042,495,205 925,274,387 

 
The Company has designated some of its equity securities from listed and unlisted private 
corporations as financial assets at FVOCI. The Company adopted this presentation as the 
investments were made for strategic purposes rather than with a view to profiting from a subsequent 
sale. 
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Listed equity securities are issued by Philippine corporations and traded in the PSE. 
 
In 2022, the Company purchased investment securities at FVOCI amounting to P18,054,000 
(2021 - P114,028,664). 
 
Dividend income earned from investments in equity securities in 2022 amount to P16,182,536 
(2021 - P11,745,519). 
 
Critical accounting estimate - Fair value of unquoted financial instruments 
 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using 
generally accepted valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, discounted cash 
flow models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by 
qualified personnel independent of the area that created them. Inputs used in these models are from 
observable data and quoted market prices in respect of similar financial instruments. 
 
All models are approved by the BOD before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that 
outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. Changes in assumptions about these 
factors could affect reported fair values of financial instruments. The sensitivity analysis is disclosed 
in Note 18.8. 
 

c) Investment securities at amortized cost 
 

  2022 2021 

Government debt securities    
Face amount  554,355,000  554,355,000 
Maturities  (554,355,000) - 
Unamortized discount  -  (142,343) 

  -  554,212,657  
Accrued interest receivable  -  8,799,655  

  -  563,012,312  

 
Investment securities at amortized cost pertain to government debt securities which fully matured in 
2022. In 2021, unamortized discount on the investments amounting to P1,610,335 was realized. 
 
Investment securities at amortized cost are expected to be realized within one year from reporting 
dates. 
 
Interest income earned from investment securities are presented in Note 12. 

 
Critical accounting judgment - Impairment of investment securities at amortized cost 
 
Government securities at amortized cost are deemed by the Company to have low credit risk. Debt 
instruments are considered as low credit risk when they have a low risk of default, and the issuer has 
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. The Company uses 
external ratings in assessing the credit risk arising from these exposures. Low credit risk assets are at 
the minimum subject to 12-month expected credit loss (ECL). Based on management’s assessment, 
the corresponding 12-month ECL is not material. 
 
The detailed accounting policy for credit losses is disclosed in Note 20. Likewise, information on the 
credit quality of investment securities is presented in Note 18. 
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Note 4 - Trade receivables, net 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 

 

  2022 2021 

Trade receivables  264,882  6,348,904  
Allowance for impairment losses  (150,212)  (145,334) 

  114,670  6,203,570 

 
Trade receivables are expected to be realized within one year from reporting dates.  
 
The movement in allowance for impairment of trade receivables for the years ended December 31 are as 
follows: 
 

  2022 2021 

Beginning of year   145,334  149,141 
Provision  4,878 - 
Reversal  - (3,807) 

End of year  150,212  145,334 

 
Critical accounting estimate - Trade receivables ECL 
 
The Company applies the simplified approach allowed by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
(PFRS) 9, Financial Instruments, in determining the recoverable amount of trade and other receivables 
based on the ECL of the portfolio of receivables, as a whole. In arriving at the ECL for a particular period, 
management considers both historical loss experience and certain macroeconomic factors of the 
countries of the related parties to which it renders services.  
 
In these cases, management uses judgments based on the best available facts and circumstances, 
including but not limited to the length of relationship with the related parties and whether there had 
been payment defaults in the past. An evaluation of receivables designed to identify potential charges to 
the provision is performed on a continuous basis throughout the year. The carrying value of receivables 
at the end of each reporting period and the amount and timing of recorded provision for any period could 
differ based on actual experience and changes in judgments made. 
 
The detailed accounting policy for credit losses is disclosed in Note 20. Likewise, information on the 
credit quality of trade receivables is presented in Note 18. 
 
Note 5 - Investment in a subsidiary 
 
The account pertains to the Company’s 100% equity ownership of BPI Securities Corporation (BSC). BSC 
is primarily engaged in the brokerage business of purchase and sale of any and all kinds of shares, bonds, 
debentures, securities and any and all kinds of properties, either in the Philippines or in any foreign 
country; to underwrite and distribute securities issued by another person, firm, corporation or 
association, whether domestic or foreign; and to sell the aforesaid securities to customers and/or to act 
as broker and/or dealer of securities. 
 
The investment is carried at cost as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 in accordance with Philippine 
Accounting Standards (PAS) 27, Separate financial statements. See Note 20 for the related accounting 
policy. 
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The summarized financial information of BSC as at and for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Total current assets 1,197,303,094 1,528,435,990 
Total non-current assets 180,471,798 182,495,392 

Total assets 1,377,774,892 1,710,931,382 

   
Total current liabilities 695,815,576 1,035,927,522 
Total non-current liability - 3,255,933 

Total liabilities 695,815,576 1,039,183,455 

Net assets 681,959,316 671,747,927 

 
 2022 2021 

Revenues 280,225,303 362,647,718 
Expenses 270,194,410 253,351,441 

Income before income tax 10,030,893 109,296,277 
Income tax benefit (expense) 430,105 (23,096,625) 

Net income  10,460,998 86,199,652 
Other comprehensive (loss) gain  (1,266,294) 425,030 

Total comprehensive income  9,194,704 86,624,682 

  
There was no dividend income earned from BSC for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
Critical accounting judgment - Impairment of investment in a subsidiary 
 
Impairment assessment on investment in a subsidiary is performed whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment loss is 
recognized whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is computed based on the higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell or value-in-use. 
Management has not identified any indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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Note 6 - Property and equipment, net 
 
Details of and movements in the account follow: 
 

 

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

Office space 
and leasehold 
improvement  

(Note 17)  Total 

Cost     

On January 1, 2021 19,019,444 739,822 52,670,701 72,429,967 
Additions  4,800,000   -     -     4,800,000  
Disposals  (4,389,270)  -     -    (4,389,270) 

December 31, 2021 19,430,174 739,822 52,670,701 72,840,697 
Additions 7,881,585 - 88,223 7,969,808 

Disposals (10,680,000) - - (10,680,000) 

December 31, 2022 16,631,759 739,822 52,758,924 70,130,505 

Accumulated depreciation     
January 1, 2021 10,788,319 739,810 23,175,109 34,703,238 

Depreciation  3,528,601  -     12,640,969  16,169,570  

Disposals  (2,365,504) -    -    (2,365,504) 

December 31, 2021  11,951,416  739,810   35,816,078  48,507,304  
Depreciation 2,750,539 - 12,720,368 15,470,907 
Disposals (8,136,632) - - (8,136,632) 

December 31, 2022 6,565,323 739,810 48,536,446 55,841,579 

Net carrying value on December 31, 2021  7,478,758   12   16,854,623  24,333,393  

Net carrying value on December 31, 2022 10,066,436  12    4,222,478 14,288,926 

 
In 2022, the Company sold certain transportation equipment for a consideration of P2,720,559 resulting 
in a gain on sale of P177,191 and is presented under Miscellaneous income in the statement of income. In 
2021, proceeds from disposals of properties are equal to the net book value and no gain or loss was 
recognized. 
 
Depreciation expense is included in Occupancy and equipment-related expenses in the statement of 
income.  
 
Critical accounting estimate - Useful lives of property and equipment 
 
The Company determines the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment based on the period 
over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The Company annually reviews the estimated 
useful lives of property and equipment based on factors that include asset utilization, internal technical 
evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated use of assets tempered by related 
industry benchmark information. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially 
affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned. 
 
The possible effects of sensitivities surrounding the carrying values of property and equipment are 
deemed immaterial for financial reporting purposes. 
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Note 7 - Deferred income taxes, net 
 
Deferred income taxes (DIT) as at December 31 represent the tax effects of the following temporary 
differences, including the period in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 
settled: 
 

   2022 2021 

DIT assets   
Provision for short-term employee benefits 8,691,728  5,762,829  
Past service cost 3,654,566  3,470,301  
Stock options plan 2,241,767  2,043,434  
Allowance for impairment losses 63,053  62,517  

Total DIT assets 14,651,114 11,339,081 

DIT liabilities   
Unrealized fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI (49,393,989) (51,062,345) 
Retirement benefit asset (5,575,686) (7,418,867) 

Total DIT liabilities (54,969,675)  (58,481,212) 

DIT liabilities, net (40,318,561)  (47,142,131) 

 
The movements in DIT liabilities, net for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Beginning of year  (47,142,131)  (31,604,199) 
Charged against statement of income 3,443,906  6,432,199  
Charged against (credited to) other comprehensive  

income (OCI) 3,379,664  (21,970,131) 

End of year (40,318,561)  (47,142,131) 

 
Significant judgment - Realization of DIT assets 
 
The recognition of DIT assets depends on management’s assessment of adequate future taxable income 
against which the temporary differences can be applied. The Company reviews the carrying amounts of 
DIT assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the amounts to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will allow all or part of its DIT assets to be utilized. The Company’s 
management believes that the DIT assets at the end of each reporting period will be fully realized. 
 
Note 8 - Other assets, net 
 
The account at December 31 consists of: 

 

 Note 2022 2021 

Retirement benefit asset, net 15 22,302,745  29,675,468  
Prepaid taxes  15,372,385  7,669,201  
Creditable withholding taxes  7,134,994  4,834,057  
Accrued interest receivable  6,970,486 89,951 
Other investments  1,717,330  1,717,330 
Others  5,194,072  4,805,518 

  58,692,012  48,791,525 
Allowance for impairment losses - other 

investments  (102,000)  (102,000) 

  58,590,012  48,689,525  

 
Others pertain to accrued interest from time deposits, prepaid expenses and deposit on leased property. 
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The current and non-current portion of other assets follow: 
 

 2022 2021 

Current (within 12 months) 34,671,937 17,398,727 
Non-current (beyond 12 months) 24,020,075 31,392,798 

 58,692,012 48,791,525 

 
Note 9 - Accounts payable and other liabilities 
 
The account at December 31 consists of:  

 

 Note 2022 2021 

Accrued expenses    
  Salaries and wages  35,475,477  25,638,145  
  Taxes and licenses  7,924,734  8,302,206 

Withholding taxes  5,484,404 3,911,223 
  Other accrued expenses  2,506,175  795,869 
Accounts payables  6,227,489  4,055,438  
Due to a related party 16 5,807,673  1,751,913  

Income tax payable  -  17,705,117  

Other liabilities  5,372,489  20,065,554 

  68,798,441 82,225,465 

 
Other accrued expenses pertain to accruals of gross receipts tax and professional fees. 
 
Accounts payables pertain to those payable due to the purchase of retail treasury bonds and insurance. 
 
Other liabilities include sundries, derivative liability and other payables. 
 
Accounts payables and other liabilities are expected to be settled within the next financial year. 
 
Note 10 - Equity 
 
Share capital; share premium 
 
Details of the account as at December 31, 2022, and 2021 follow: 

 

 Shares Amount 

Authorized, at P10 par value per share 100,000,000 1,000,000,0000 
Issued and outstanding shares 50,643,508 506,435,080 
Share premium  260,364,020 

 
Retained earnings 
 
As at December 31, 2022, the Company has retained earnings in excess of its additional paid-in capital 
amounting to P2.9 billion (2021 - P2.5 billion). Accordingly, management intends to retain the excess 
retained earnings to cover the growth in its merchant banking activities, in preparation for any potential 
equity investment if the market proves favorable. Likewise, the excess retained earnings will be used by 
the Company for its regular and future capital market underwriting activities. 
 
Dividends 
 
On August 18, 2021 the Company declared cash dividends to the Parent Bank amounting to P1 billion, 
which have been paid in full on September 27, 2021. 
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Accumulated reserves 
 
The details and movements of the account for the years ended December 31 are summarized below: 
 

 Notes 2022 2021 

Fair value reserve on financial assets at FVOCI, net 
of tax    
Beginning of year  (135,505,367) (32,697,458) 
Unrealized fair value gain  3 25,984,832 28,472,814 
Reclassification to retained earnings 20.22 - (131,280,723) 

End of year  (109,520,535) (135,505,367) 

Remeasurement of retirement obligation, net of tax    
Beginning of year   18,052  (4,590,854) 
Remeasurement (gain) loss   (4,755,172)  4,608,906  

End of year 15 (4,737,120)  18,052  

Stock option reserve    
Beginning of year   8,173,734 8,512,162 

Employee stock option plan amortization  793,333 (338,428) 

End of year  8,967,067  8,173,734 

   (105,290,588) (127,313,581) 

 
Employee stock option plan amortization is booked under Compensation and fringe benefits in the 
statement of income. 
 
Note 11 - Fees and commissions 
 
The account for the years ended December 31 consists of income from the following activities: 
 

 2022 2021 

Underwriting and loan syndication 890,934,039 787,109,296 
Financial advisory  69,963,224 97,988,377 
Broker’s fees 29,838,138 35,696,986 
Service fees 27,745,092 22,565,806 

 1,018,480,493 943,360,465 

 
Note 12 - Interest income 
 
Interest income for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Notes 2022 2021 

Cash and cash equivalents 2 7,296,126 440,146 
Investment securities at amortized cost    3 4,533,139 24,124,252 
Loans and receivables  2,631 2,498 
Others  1,362,982 832,558 

  13,194,878 25,399,454 
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Note 13 - Other operating expenses 
 
Other operating expenses for the years ended December 31 consist of: 
 

 Notes 2022 2021 

Outsourced services  35,204,182  26,558,645  
Write-off of derivatives 3 9,802,259 - 
Periodicals and magazines  5,657,738  9,839,534  
Directors’ remuneration 16 5,150,000 6,950,000 
Advertising expense  2,391,214  521,662  
Stationery and office supplies  954,111 868,256 
Postage and telegram  869,367  1,009,877  
Representation and entertainment  602,583 160,620 
Underwriting expenses  88,191  579,753  
Transportation expense  23,199 83,486 
Others  2,373,079 3,507,745 

  63,115,923 50,079,578 

 
Others comprise mainly of interest expense from leases (Note 17), provision for impairment losses  
(Notes 4 and 8), membership fees and dues and repairs and maintenance. 
 
Note 14 - Income taxes 
 
The reconciliation between income tax expense at the statutory rate and the actual income tax expense 
presented in the statement of income for the years ended December 31 follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

 Amount Rate (%) Amount Rate (%) 

Statutory income tax 132,911,431 25.00 178,833,037 25.00 
Non-deductible expenses 28,902,177 5.44 (10,101,000) (1.41) 
Income subjected to lower tax rates, net (791,240) (0.15) 4,034,837  0.56 
Tax-exempt income (5,790,125) (1.09) (38,893)  (0.01) 
Adjustments on tax of prior periods - - (6,504,293)  (0.91) 

Effective income tax expense 155,232,243 29.20 166,223,688  23.23 

 
The Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises Act (CREATE) bill which provides for lower 
corporate income tax rates and rationalizes fiscal incentives had been signed into law by the President of 
the Philippines in 2021, with an effective date of July 1, 2020. As a result of the CREATE law, the 
Company recognized an adjustment in 2021 to the December 31, 2020, balances which resulted in a 
decrease of P6.5 million in current income tax expense and decrease of P2.1 million in DIT benefit using 
the weighted average effective annual income tax rate of 27.5%. 
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Note 15 - Retirement benefits 
 
The BPI Group maintains both defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans. Assets of 
both retirement plans are held in trust and governed by local regulations and practices in the 
Philippines. The key terms of these pension plans are discussed below. 
 
(a) Defined benefit retirement plan 
 
BPI has a unified plan which covers all subsidiaries (including the Company) except insurance entities. 
Under this plan, the normal retirement age is 60 years. Normal retirement benefit consists of a lump 
sum benefit equivalent to 200% of the basic monthly salary of the employee at the time of his retirement 
for each year of service, if he has rendered at least 10 years of service, or to 150% of his basic monthly 
salary, if he has rendered less than 10 years of service. For voluntary retirement, the benefit is 
equivalent to 112.50% of the employee’s basic monthly salary for a minimum of 10 years of service with 
the rate factor progressing to a maximum of 200% of basic monthly salary for service years of 25 or 
more. Death or disability benefit, on the other hand, shall be determined on the same basis as in 
voluntary retirement. 
 
The net defined benefit cost and contributions to be paid by the entities within the BPI Group are 
determined by an independent actuary. The actuarial information applicable to the Company is 
presented below. 
 
The amount recognized in the statement of financial position as of December 31 follows: 

 

 Note 2022 2021 

Fair value of plan assets  107,864,453 108,682,976 
Present value of retirement obligation   (80,991,125)  (73,561,268) 

Excess of plan assets over retirement obligation  26,873,328  35,121,708 
Asset ceiling limit  (4,570,583)  (5,446,240) 

Retirement benefit asset  8 22,302,745  29,675,468  

 
The retirement benefit asset is recorded as part of Other assets in the statement of financial position. 
 
The movements in the present value of defined benefit obligation for the years ended December 31 
follow: 
 

 2022 2021 

Beginning of year 73,561,268  76,439,812  
Current service cost 5,369,623  5,693,160  
Past service cost 969,767 - 
Interest cost 3,626,571  3,034,661  
Benefits paid (606,259) - 
Remeasurement - changes in financial assumptions  (10,392,936)  (10,610,569) 
Remeasurement - experience 8,463,091  (995,796) 

End of year     80,991,125 73,561,268 
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The movements in fair value of plan asset for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Beginning of year 108,682,976  101,002,000 
Interest income 5,421,487  4,082,615  
Contributions 4,285,479  3,996,382  
Benefits paid (606,259) - 
Remeasurement - return on plan assets (9,919,230)  (398,021) 

End of year 107,864,453 108,682,976 

 
The composition of the plan assets at fair value as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Debt securities 55,010,871  55,428,318  
Equity securities 29,123,402  29,344,404  
Others 23,730,180  23,910,254  

 107,864,453  108,682,976  

 
The plan assets of the BPI unified plan include investments in BPI’s common shares. The actual return 
on plan assets attributable to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounts to P4,497,743 
net loss (2021 - P3,684,594 net gain). 
 
The Company has no other transactions with the fund other than the contributions presented above. 
 
The components of pension expense recognized in the statement of income for the years ended 
December 31 consist of: 
 

 2022 2021 

Current service cost 5,369,623 5,693,160 
Past service cost 969,767 - 
Net interest cost (1,526,416) (956,193) 

Pension expense 4,812,974 4,736,967 

 
Pension expense is presented as part of Compensation and fringe benefits in the statement of income. 
 
The movements in reserve for remeasurement of defined benefit obligation as at December 31 are as 
follows: 
 

 Note 2022 2021 

Beginning of year   (11,607,650) (5,118,151) 
Remeasurement (gain) loss recognized in OCI    

Remeasurement gain on retirement obligation  (1,929,845)  (11,606,365) 
Remeasurement loss on plan assets  9,919,230  398,021  
Changes in the effect of asset ceiling  (1,144,157)  3,043,122  

  6,845,228 (8,165,222) 

DIT effect  (1,711,306)  1,675,723 

End of year  10 (6,473,728)  (11,607,650) 

  
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted retirement benefits as of December 31:  
 

 
Less than a 

year 
Between 
1-5 years 

Between  
5-10 years 

Between 
10-15 years 

More than 
15 years 

December 31, 2022 3,324,192 7,567,717 54,725,084 50,618,642 332,485,845 
December 31, 2021 2,478,665 13,383,178 49,487,967 38,559,754 207,807,052 
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Critical accounting estimate - Calculation of defined benefit obligation 
 
The present value of the retirement benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are 
determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining 
the net cost for pensions include the discount rate and future salary increases as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Discount rate 7.15% 4.93% 
Future salary increases  6.00% 5.00% 

 
Assumptions regarding future mortality and disability experience are based on published statistics 
generally used for local actuarial valuation purposes. 
 
The defined benefit plan typically exposes the Company to a number of risks such as investment risk, 
interest rate risk and salary risk. The most significant of which relates to investment and interest rate 
risk. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in 
which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related 
pension liability. A decrease in government bond yields will increase the defined benefit obligation 
although this will also be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plan’s fixed income holdings. 
Hence, the present value of the defined benefit obligation is directly affected by the discount rate to be 
applied by the Company. However, the Company believes that due to the long-term nature of the pension 
liability and the strength of the Company itself, the mix of debt and equity securities holdings of the plan 
is an appropriate element of the Company’s long-term strategy to manage the plan efficiently. 
 
The Company ensures that the investment positions are managed within an asset-liability matching 
framework that has been developed to achieve long-term investments that are in line with the 
obligations under the plan. The Company’s main objective is to match assets to the defined benefit 
obligation by investing primarily in long-term debt securities with maturities that match the benefit 
payments as they fall due. The asset-liability matching is being monitored on a regular basis and 
potential change in investment mix is being discussed with the trustor, as necessary to better ensure 
the appropriate asset-liability matching. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit 
obligation is 10.06 years (2021 - 11.09 years). 
 
The sensitivity of the defined benefit plan to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is presented 
as follows: 
 

 Change in 
assumption 

Impact on defined benefit plan 

 Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption 

December 31, 2022    
Discount rate 0.5% 8,742,881 7,521,653 
Salary increase rate 1.0% 8,756,568 7,664,763 

December 31, 2021    
Discount rate 0.5% 8,816,044 7,506,344 
Salary increase rate 1.0% 8,719,608 10,004,482 

 
The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial 
assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the 
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the 
retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statement of financial position. 
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The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the previous period. 
 
(b) Defined contribution retirement plan 
 
All non-unionized employees hired on or after January 1, 2016, are automatically under the new defined 
contribution plan. Employees hired prior to the effective date shall have the option to elect to become 
members of the new defined contribution plan.  
 
The defined contribution retirement plan has a defined benefit minimum guarantee equivalent to a 
certain percentage of the monthly salary payable to an employee at normal retirement age with the 
required credited years of service based on the provisions of Republic Act (“RA”) No. 7641.  
 
Under the normal or late retirement, employees are entitled to a benefit equal to the total of the following 
amounts: 
 
● The higher between (a) cumulative fund balance equivalent to 8% of the basic monthly salary and 

(b) the minimum legal retirement benefit under the Retirement Law. 
● Employee contributions fund. 
 
Accordingly, the liability for the defined benefit minimum guarantee is actuarially calculated similar to 
the defined benefit plan. 
 
Following are the details of the Company’s defined contribution plan that has a defined benefit minimum 
guarantee as of December 31: 
 

 2022 2021 

Fair value of plan assets 20,228,851  14,406,140  
Present value of retirement obligation  (10,900,649)  (8,614,590) 

Excess of plan assets over retirement obligation 9,328,202  5,791,550  
Asset ceiling limit (9,328,202)  (5,791,550) 

Retirement benefit asset - -    

 
The movements in the present value of retirement obligation for the years ended December 31 are as 
follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Beginning of year  8,614,590   10,370,299  
Current service cost 2,015,297  2,025,818  
Past service cost 251,883 - 
Interest expense 423,838  409,627  
Benefits paid from plan assets (3,293,708)  (8,653,627) 
Remeasurement - changes in financial assumptions  (76,404)  (2,552,907) 
Remeasurement - experience 2,965,153  7,015,380  

End of year 10,900,649  8,614,590  
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The movements in the fair value of plan asset for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Beginning of year  14,406,140  17,905,479 
Interest income 607,051  745,756  
Contributions 1,990,161  3,867,922  
Benefits paid from plan assets (3,293,708)  (8,653,627) 
Remeasurement - return on plan assets 6,519,207  540,610  

End of year 20,228,851  14,406,140  

 
The components of pension expense recognized in the statement of income for the years ended 
December 31 consist of: 
 

 2022 2021 

Current service cost 2,015,297 2,025,818 
Past service cost 251,883 - 
Net interest cost 101,731 (51,185) 

Pension expense 2,368,911 1,974,633 

 
Pension expenses are presented as part of Compensation and fringe benefits in the statement of income. 
 
The movements in reserve for remeasurement of net defined contribution asset as at December 31 are as 
follows: 
 

 Note 2022 2021 

Beginning of year  11,589,598 9,709,005 
Remeasurement (gain) loss recognized in OCI    

Remeasurement loss on retirement obligation  2,888,749 4,462,473 

Remeasurement gain on plan assets  (6,519,207) (540,610) 
Changes in the effect of asset ceiling  3,251,708 (2,041,270) 

  (378,750) 1,880,593 

DIT effect  - - 

End of year                                    10 11,210,848 11,589,598 

 
Remeasurements on retirement benefits recognized in other comprehensive income are presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Note 16 - Related party transactions 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company transacts with its Parent Bank and other related entities 
and with its directors, officers, shareholder and related interests (DOSRI). These transactions such as 
loans and advances, deposit arrangements, underwriting/advisory services and advances for operating 
expenses are made in the normal operating activities and have terms and conditions that are generally 
comparable to those offered to non-related parties and to similar transactions in the market. 
 
Transactions with the Parent Bank include outsourcing of services related to the following activities:  
(a) anti-money laundering; (b) accounting and securities administration services; (c) deposit 
arrangements; and (d) loan operations, treasury operations, human resource-related functions and 
information systems.  
 
  



 

16 
 

Significant related party transactions as at and for the years ended December 31 are summarized below:  
 

 
Transactions 
for the year 

Outstanding 
balances Terms and conditions 

December 31, 2022    
Trade receivables, net     

Parent Bank (180,956) - These are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing, non-guaranteed and 
collectible in cash on demand. 

Cash deposits to:    
Parent Bank 1,090,665,343 1,542,184,812 These are time, demand and 

savings deposits bearing the 
following average interest rates:  
- Time - 0.125% to 5.00% 
- Savings - 0.76% to 1.14% 

   

Accounts payable and other 
liabilities 

   

Parent Bank 4,055,760 5,807,673 These are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing, non-guaranteed, payable 
in cash on demand. 

 

 
Transactions 
for the year 

Outstanding 
balances Terms and conditions 

December 31, 2021    
Trade receivables, net     

Parent Bank  (717,880)  180,956  These are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing, non-guaranteed and 
collectible in cash on demand. 

Cash deposits to:    
Parent Bank (294,033,049)  451,519,469  These are time, demand and 

savings deposits bearing the 
following average interest rates:  
- Time - 0.125% 
- Savings - 0.76% to 1.14% 

   

Accounts payable and other 
liabilities 

   

Parent Bank  1,447,166   1,751,913  These are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing, non-guaranteed, payable 
in cash on demand. 
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The aggregate amounts included in the determination of income before income tax that resulted from 
transactions with each class of related parties are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Interest income   
Parent Bank 7,296,126 440,146 

Fees and commission   

South Luzon Thermal Energy Corporation 62,550,057 - 
Ayala Land Inc. 58,572,857 12,854,774 
AC Infrastructure Holdings Corporation 31,578,947 - 
Parent Bank 21,191,446 -     
Ayala Corporation 14,536,053 11,746,768 
ACEN Corporation 11,842,105 - 
BPI Asset Management and Trust Corporation 5,790,970 8,611,902 
BPI Investment Management Inc. 1,687,924 1,773,818 
AYC Finance Limited 1,396,678 19,932,155 
AC Energy Corporation - 80,495,330 
AC Energy Finance International Ltd. - 42,423,338 
AC Energy and Infrastructure Corporation - 19,157,895 
Ayala Real Estate Investment Trust Inc. - 13,035,526 

   BPI Family Savings Bank Inc. - 7,003,545 
Entrego Fulfilment Solutions, Inc. - 4,736,842 
BPI Securities - 1,923,804 

 209,147,037 223,695,697 

Outsourcing services   
   Parent Bank 35,585,561 45,247,175 

Rent   
   Ayala Real Estate Investment Trust Inc 8,975,608 37,294,025 

Brokerage services   
   BPI Securities - 476,976 

Insurance fees   
   BPI AIA Life Assurance Corporation 443,018 755,485 

Other operating expenses   
Ayala Real Estate Investment Trust Inc 908,754 - 

   BPI Europe PLC 49,754 49,413 
BPI Securities 33,591 - 

Retirement benefits   
   Key management personnel 3,307,086 3,230,057 

Salaries, allowances and other short-term benefits   
   Key management personnel 55,863,398 49,889,890 
   Directors’ remuneration 5,150,000 6,950,000 

 
Other operating expenses pertain to process agent fees and utilities expenses. 
 
The commissions earned by the Company from BPI Investment Management Inc. include those earned 
from the following funds: 
 
• Philam Managed Income Fund, Inc. amounting to P152,041 (2021 - P412,238), and 

• ALFM Peso Bond Fund, Inc. amounting to P1,386,427 (2021 - P1,227,560). 
 
There were no provisions recognized against receivables from related parties. Also, no additional 
provision was recognized during the year. 
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Note 17 - Leases 
 
The Company has a lease agreement with the Parent Bank for its office space renewable under certain 
terms and conditions and for a period of four (4) years from January 1, 2019, to April 1, 2023. The lease 
agreement was renewed for another three (3) months from April to June 2023. By July 1, 2023, the 
Company will be relocating to its new office located on the 23rd Floor, Ayala Triangle Gardens Tower 2, 
Paseo De Roxas corner Makati Avenue, Makati City 1226. The lease agreement is for a period of eight (8) 
years and is still under negotiation. 
 
The balances arising from the current lease is presented below.  
 
Details of right-of-use assets and lease liability on December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Note 2022 2021 

Right-of-use assets - Office space and leasehold 
improvement 

6   

Cost  52,758,924  52,670,701  
Accumulated depreciation  (48,536,446)  (35,816,078) 

  4,222,478 16,854,623 

Lease liability     
Current  5,188,861  14,629,769  
Non-current  -  5,134,195  

  5,188,861  19,763,964  

 
The movement in lease liabilities for the years ended December 31 are as follows:  
 

 2022 2021 

On January 1  19,763,964  32,747,702 
Interest expense 908,754  1,846,789  
Cash outflows for principal and interest payments (15,483,857)  (14,830,527) 

On December 31 5,188,861  19,763,964  

 
There are no variable lease payments as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
Amounts recognized in the statement of income relating to leases as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Notes 2022 2021 
Depreciation expense (included in “Occupancy and equipment-

related expenses”) 6 12,720,368 12,640,969 
Interest expense (included in “Others” under Other operating 

expenses) 13 908,754 1,846,789  
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in “Occupancy 

and equipment-related expenses”)  1,616,351 2,036,374  
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not 

shown above as short-term leases (included in “Occupancy 
and equipment-related expenses”)  1,088,411  729,668 

  16,333,884 17,253,800 

 
Critical accounting judgment - Determining the lease term 
 
In determining the lease term, the Company considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).   
 



 

19 
 

Management believes that lease extension and terminations will not be exercised, thus, extension and 
termination options have not been included in the lease liabilities. 
 
Critical accounting judgment - Determining the incremental borrowing rate 
 
The Company’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liability arising from the lease contract 
entered in 2019 was 6.8433%. The rate was determined in reference to the prevailing bank lending rates 
that are reflective of the Company’s own credit risk taking into consideration the nature of the leased 
asset and other terms and conditions of the lease contracts. 
 
Note 18 - Financial risk and capital management 
 
The BOD carries out its risk management function through the Risk Management Committee (RMC). 
The RMC is tasked with nurturing a culture of risk management across the enterprise. The RMC sets the 
risk appetite; proposes and approves risk management policies, frameworks, and guidelines; and 
regularly reviews risk management structures, metrics, limits, and issues across the Company, to meet 
and comply with regulatory and international standards on risk measurement and management. 
 
At the management level, the Risk Management Office is headed by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO). The 
CRO is ultimately responsible in leading the formulation of risk management policies and methodologies 
in alignment with the overall business strategy of the Company, ensuring that risks are prudently and 
rationally undertaken and within its risk appetite, as well as commensurate and disciplined to maximize 
returns on the shareholder’s capital. Risk management is carried out by a dedicated team of skilled risk 
managers and senior officers who have extensive prior operational experience. The Company’s risk 
managers regularly monitor key risk indicators and report exposures against carefully established 
financial and business risk metrics and limits approved by the RMC. Finally, independent reviews are 
regularly conducted by the Internal Audit group and regulatory examiners to ensure that risk controls 
and mitigants are in place and functioning effectively as intended. 
 
The possibility of incurring losses is, however, compensated for by the possibility of earning more than 
expected income. Risk-taking is, therefore, not entirely negative to be avoided. Risk-taking actions 
present opportunities if risks are fully identified and accounted, deliberately taken, and are kept within 
prudent and rationalized limits. 
 
The most important financial risks that the Company manages are credit risk, liquidity risk and market 
risk. 
 
18.1 Credit risk 
 
The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that the counterparty will cause a 
financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an obligation. Significant changes in the economy, 
or in the health of a particular industry segment that may represent a concentration in the Company’s 
portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at the reporting date. 
Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposure arises principally in 
trade and other receivables and debt securities. 
 
  



 

20 
 

18.1.1 Credit risk management 
 
(a) Trade and other receivables 
 
The Company applies the simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade and other receivables. The detailed impairment policy of the Company is disclosed 
in Note 20. 
 
(b) Debt securities carried at amortized cost 
 
Investments in high grade securities and bills are viewed as a way to gain better credit quality mix and at 
the same time, maintain a readily available source to meet funding requirements. The level of credit risk 
for treasury and other investment debt securities and their associated probability of default are 
determined using reputable external ratings and/or available and reliable qualitative and quantitative 
information. In the absence of credit ratings, a comparable issuer or guarantor rating is used. Should 
there be a change in the credit rating of the chosen comparable, evaluation is made to ascertain whether 
the rating change is applicable to the security being assessed for impairment. 
 

Classifications Credit Risk Grade following S&P or its equivalent 

Standard monitoring Investment grade (IG) (AAA to BBB-) 

Special monitoring Non-IG (BB+ to C) 

Default Default (D) 

 
18.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies 
 
The Company manages limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in 
particular, to individual counterparties and groups, to industries and sovereigns. 
 
The Company structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. 
Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when 
considered necessary.  
 
The exposure to any one borrower is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet 
exposures. Actual exposures against limits are monitored regularly. 
 
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where 
appropriate. 
 
18.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
Credit risk exposures relating to financial assets are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,542,184,812 451,519,469 
Investment securities   

Financial assets at FVTPL - debt securities 855,678,648 1,078,774,238 
Investment securities at amortized cost, net - 563,012,312 

Trade receivables 264,882 6,348,904 
Other receivables 7,008,536 905,580 

 2,405,136,878 2,100,560,503 

 
The carrying amount of financial assets above also represents the Company’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk. 
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18.1.4 Credit quality of financial assets other than trade and other receivables 
 
Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

 

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL 

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL 

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL 

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL 

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 1,542,184,812 - - 1,542,184,812 451,499,469  - - 451,499,469  

Investment 
securities         
Financial 

assets at 
FVTPL 855,678,648 - - 855,678,648 1,078,774,238         - - 1,078,774,238 

Investment 
securities at 
amortized 
cost, net - - - - 563,012,312 - - 563,012,312 

Gross carrying 
amount 2,397,863,460 - - 2,397,863,460 2,093,286,019 - - 2,093,286,019 

Loss allowance - - - - - - - - 

Carrying amount 2,397,863,460 - - 2,397,863,460 2,093,286,019 - - 2,093,286,019 

 
Cash and cash equivalents substantially consist of savings and time deposit placements with the Parent 
Bank. 
 
The cash and cash equivalents are deemed to have low credit risk. Accordingly, the applicable 12-month 
ECL is deemed not material for financial reporting purposes. 
 
18.1.5 Credit quality of trade receivables 
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s trade receivables as of December 31, 2022, amounts to P264,882 
(2021 - P6,348,904). 
 
The Company’s trade and other receivables generally arise from transactions with various unrated 
counterparties with good credit standing. The Company applies the simplified approach to measuring 
ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss methodology for trade and other receivables. 
 
Credit risk exposures relating to trade receivables follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

 Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL 

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL 

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL 

Stage 2 
Lifetime 

ECL 

Stage 3 
Lifetime 

ECL Total 

Trade receivables 103,069 - 161,813 264,882 6,187,091 - 161,813 6,348,904 
Loss allowance - - (150,212) (150,212) - - (145,334) (145,334) 

Carrying amount 103,069 - 11,601 114,670 6,187,091 - 16,479 6,203,570 
Other receivables 7,008,536 - - 7,008,536 905,580 - - 905,580 

Trade and other 
receivables 7,111,605 - 11,601 7,123,206 7,092,671 - 16,479 7,109,150 
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18.2 Concentration of risk on financial assets with credit risk exposure 
 
The Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts as categorized by industry sectors are as 
follows: 
 
On December 31, 2022 
 

 
 

Financial 
institutions Manufacturing Real estate Others Total 

  (In Millions of Pesos)  

Cash and cash equivalents 1,542 - - - 1,542 
Financial assets at FVTPL - 

debt securities - - - 856 856 
Trade receivables, net - - - 1 1 
Other receivables 7 - - - 7 

 1,549 - - 857 2,406 

 
On December 31, 2021 
 

 
 

Financial 
institutions Manufacturing Real estate Others Total 

  (In Millions of Pesos)  

Cash and cash equivalents 452 - - - 452 
Investment securities      

Financial assets at FVTPL - 
debt securities - - - 1,078 1,078 

Investment securities at 
amortized cost 563 - - - 563 

Trade receivables, net - - 5 1 6 
Other receivables - - - 1 1 

 1,015 - 5 1,080 2,100 

 
18.3 Market risk management 
 
The Company is exposed to market risk - the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk management is guided by 
policies and procedures reviewed by the Company’s RMC and approved by the Executive 
Committee/BOD. 
 
The Company reviews and controls market risk exposures in its trading operations. Trading portfolios 
include those positions arising from the Company’s market-making transactions.  
 
To estimate its exposure to market risk, the Company computes the statistical “value at risk” (VaR) of its 
trading position daily. The VaR measurement estimates, at 99% degree of confidence, the maximum loss, 
due to adverse market movements, that could be incurred by portfolios over assumed holding periods. As 
such, there remains a 1% statistical probability that the portfolios’ actual loss could be greater than the 
VaR estimate. 
 
VaR of the Company as at December 31 follows: 

 

 2022 2021 

 (Amounts in thousands of Pesos) 

Balance Sheet VaR 27,438 34,679 
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VaR is an integral part of the Company’s market risk control system. VaR limits for all trading portfolios 
are set by the Company’s BOD. Actual market risk exposures vis-à-vis market risk limits are reported 
daily to the Company’s management as well as the Parent Bank’s RMC. 
 
18.4 Foreign exchange risk 
 
The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing exchange rates on its 
foreign currency financial position and cash flows.  
 
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at December 31, 2022, arises from its 
cash and other cash items denominated in United States Dollar (US Dollar) equivalent to P2,087,873 
(2021 - P52,124,864). The Company has no foreign-currency denominated liabilities as at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
Foreign exchange gain, net at December 31 is as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 

Realized foreign exchange gain, net 12,967,795 29,538,810 
Unrealized foreign exchange (loss) gain, net (1,001) 6,642 

Foreign exchange gain, net 12,966,794 29,545,452 

 
At December 31, 2022 and 2021, if the Philippine Peso had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the US 
Dollar based on rate 60 days after reporting period with all other variables held constant, pre-tax income 
as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022 would have been P0.21 million (2021 - P0.52 million) 
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US 
Dollar-denominated assets. 
 
18.5 Interest rate risk 
 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company takes on 
exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair 
value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may also result 
in losses if unexpected movements arise. The BOD sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate 
repricing that may be undertaken. 
 
The Company’s trade and other receivable carry fixed interest rate while most investments in debt 
securities are held amortized cost thus, are insensitive to fluctuations in interest rate. Likewise, financial 
liabilities are subject to fixed interest rates. Therefore, as at December 31, 2022, interest rate risk arises 
mainly from debt securities at FVTPL amounting to P855,678,648 (2021 - P1,078,774,238). 
 
A shift of +/- 100 basis points on the prevailing market rates (with all other variables held constant), 
would reduce/increase its income for the year ended December 31, 2022, by P6,417,590 
(2021 - P6,655,707). 
 
18.6 Price risk  
 
The Company is exposed to price risk to the extent of equity securities at FVPL and FVOCI. The 
Company’s sensitivity and exposure to price risk on its equity securities are measured and monitored 
through the Company’s VaR (Note 18.3). 
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18.7 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence 
may be the failure to meet current obligations and/or immediate sale of securities.  
 
The Company’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Company includes: 
 
● day-to-day funding is managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be 

met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers; 
● maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against 

any unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 
● monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements; and 
● managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
 
Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week 
and month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for these 
projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected 
collection date of the financial assets. 
 
The table below presents the maturity profile of non-derivative financial instruments based on 
undiscounted cash flows, which the Company uses to manage the inherent liquidity risk. The analysis 
into maturity grouping is based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the 
contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the expected date the financial asset will be realized, or the 
financial liability will be settled. 
 

 Up to 1 year 
Over 1 up to  

3 years Over 3 years Total 

As at December 31, 2022     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 1,542,184,812 - - 1,542,184,812 
Financial assets at FVTPL - debt 

securities 855,678,648 - - 855,678,648 
Trade receivables, net 114,670 - - 114,670 
Other receivables 7,008,536 - - 7,008,536 

Total financial assets 2,404,986,666 - - 2,404,986,666 

Financial liabilities     
Accounts payable  6,227,489 - - 6,227,489 
Accrued expenses, excluding 

accrued taxes and licenses and 
other non-financial liabilities 37,981,652 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 37,981,652 
Due to a related party 5,807,673 - - 5,807,673 
Lease liability 5,188,861 - - 5,188,861 
Other liabilities 5,372,489 - - 5,372,489 

Total financial liabilities 60,578,164 - - 60,578,164 

Total maturity surplus 2,344,408,502 - - 2,344,408,502 
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 Up to 1 year 
Over 1 up to  

3 years Over 3 years Total 

As at December 31, 2021     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 451,519,469 - - 451,519,469 
Investment securities     

Financial assets at FVTPL - 
debt securities 1,078,774,238 - - 1,078,774,238 

Investment securities at 
amortized cost 563,012,312 - - 563,012,312 

Trade receivables, net 6,203,570 - - 6,203,570 
Other receivables 905,580 - - 905,580 

Total financial assets 2,100,415,169 - - 2,100,415,169 

Financial liabilities     
Accounts payable  4,055,438 - - 4,055,438 
Accrued expenses, excluding 

accrued taxes and licenses and 
other non-financial liabilities 26,434,014 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 26,434,014 
Due to a related party 1,751,913 - - 1,751,913 
Lease liability 15,538,523 5,263,048 - 20,801,571 
Other liabilities 20,065,554 - - 20,065,554 

Total financial liabilities 67,845,442 5,263,048 - 73,108,490 

Total maturity surplus 2,032,569,727 (5,263,048) - 2,027,306,679 

 
18.8 Fair value hierarchy 
 
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s significant assets and liabilities at 
December 31: 
 

  Fair value  

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Recurring measurements     
Financial assets     
   Financial assets at FVTPL  875,854,219 126,185,246 - 1,002,039,465 
   Financial assets at FVOCI 277,794,730 - 764,700,475 1,042,495,205 
Fair values disclosed     
Financial assets     
  Cash and cash equivalents - 1,542,184,812 - 1,542,184,812 
  Financial assets at amortized cost - - - - 
  Trade receivables, net - 114,670 - 114,670 
  Other receivables - 7,008,536 - 7,008,536 
Financial liabilities     
  Accounts payable - 6,227,489 - 6,227,489 
  Accrued expenses, excluding accrued 

taxes and licenses and other non-
financial liabilities - 37,981,652 - 37,981,652 

  Due to a related party - 5,807,673 - 5,807,673 
  Lease liability - 5,188,861 - 5,188,861 
  Other liabilities - 5,372,489 - 5,372,489 
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  Fair value  

2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Recurring measurements     
Financial assets     
   Financial assets at FVTPL  867,871,315 409,198,343 -    1,277,069,658 
   Financial assets at FVOCI 281,111,682 - 644,162,705 925,274,387 
Fair values disclosed     
Financial assets     
  Cash and cash equivalents -    451,519,469 -    451,519,469 
  Financial assets at amortized cost 563,012,312 - -    563,012,312 
  Trade receivables, net -     6,203,569  -     6,203,569  
  Other receivables -    905,580 -    905,580 
Financial liabilities     
  Accounts payable -    4,055,438 -    4,055,438 
  Accrued expenses, excluding accrued 

taxes and licenses and other non-
financial liabilities 

-    26,434,014 -    26,434,014 

  Due to a related party -     1,751,913  -     1,751,913  
  Lease liability -    19,763,964 -    19,763,964 
  Other liabilities -    20,065,554 -    20,065,554 

 
The Company’s RMC is responsible for performing the valuation of fair value measurements included in 
the financial statements, including Level 3 fair values. The valuation processes and results for recurring 
measurements are reviewed and approved by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) at least once every quarter, in 
line with the Company’s quarterly reporting dates. The valuation processes and results for non-recurring 
measurements are reviewed and approved by the CRO in the quarter in which the measurement occurs. 
All Level 3 valuation results are discussed with the Audit Committee as part of its quarterly review of the 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
The Company’s Level 2 financial instruments include government debt securities. The fair values of 
Level 2 financial instruments are estimated using values obtained from government board summary. 
 
The table below shows the valuation techniques and applicable unobservable inputs used to measure the 
Company’s Level 3 financial instruments (equities classified at FVOCI) as of December 31: 
 

 
Description 

Valuation 
technique 

Unobservable 
inputs 2022 2021 

Unlisted equity securities Net asset value; 
investment 

multiple 

Net asset value; 
investment 

multiple 

764,700,475 644,162,705 

 
The investment valuation sensitivity of the underlying portfolio investee company is mainly impacted 
by the movement in net asset value and investment multiple. On December 31, 2022, and 2021, if the 
net asset value and investment multiple had increased/ decreased by 1% with all other variables held 
constant, net income and equity as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022, would have been 
P5,735,254 (2021 - P4,831,220) higher/lower. 
 
18.9 Capital management 
 
Capital management is understood to be a facet of risk management. The primary objective of the 
Company is the generation of recurring acceptable returns to the shareholder’s capital. To this end, the 
Company’s policies, business strategies and activities are directed towards the generation of cash flows 
that are in excess of its fiduciary and contractual obligations to its depositors, and to its various funders 
and stakeholders. 
 
Cognizant of its exposure to risks, the Company understands that it must maintain sufficient capital to 
absorb unexpected losses, to stay in business for the long haul, and to satisfy regulatory requirements. 
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The Company further understands that its performance, as well as the performance of its various units, 
should be measured in terms of returns generated vis-à-vis allocated capital and the amount of risk 
borne in the conduct of business. 
 
Effective January 1, 2014, the BSP, through its Circular 781, requires each bank and its financial affiliated 
subsidiaries to adopt new capital requirements in accordance with the provisions of Basel III. The new 
guidelines are meant to strengthen the composition of the bank's capital by increasing the level of core 
capital and regulatory capital. The Circular sets out minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio and 
Tier 1 Capital ratios of 6% and 7.5%, respectively. A capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, comprised of 
CET1 capital, was likewise imposed. The minimum required capital adequacy ratio remains at 10% which 
includes the capital conservation buffer. 
 
Qualifying capital and risk-weighted assets are computed based on BSP regulations. The qualifying 
capital of the Company consists of core tier 1 capital and tier 2 capital. Tier 1 capital comprises paid-up 
capital stock, paid-in surplus, surplus including net income for the year, surplus reserves less deductions 
such as DIT, unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI and unrealized fair value losses on financial 
assets at FVOCI. Tier 2 capital includes net unrealized fair value gains on financial assets at FVOCI, and 
general loan loss provisions for BSP reporting purposes.  
 
Under the provisions of Section 8 of Republic Act (RA) No. 8366, an Act amending Presidential Decree 
No. 29, otherwise known as the Investment Houses Law, the Company is required to maintain a 
minimum paid-up capital of P300,000,000. The Company is fully compliant with the regulatory capital 
requirements. 
 
Note 19 - Basic quantitative indicators of financial performance 
 
The key financial performance indicators of the Company follow: 

 

 2022 2021 

Return on average equity1 10.45% 14.79% 
Return on average assets2 11.36% 15.52% 
Net interest margin3 0.43% 0.77% 

1Net income divided by average total equity for the period indicated. Average equity is based on the daily average 
balance of equity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
2Net income divided by average total assets as at period indicated. Average total assets are based on the daily average 
balance of total assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
3Net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets. Average interest earning assets is based on the daily 
average balance of interest earning assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

 
Note 20 - Summary of significant accounting policies  
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to both years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
20.1    Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with PFRSs. The term PFRSs 
in general includes all applicable PFRSs, PAS, and interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations 
Committee, Standing Interpretations Committee and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee which have been approved by the Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council 
(formerly known as the Financial Reporting Standards Council) and adopted by the SEC. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of financial assets at FVTPL, financial assets at FVOCI and plan assets of the retirement 
plans which are measured at fair value. 
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are shown below: 
 
Critical accounting estimates and judgment 
 
● Determination of fair value of derivatives (Note 3) 
● Fair value of unquoted financial instruments (Note 3) 
● Impairment of investment securities at amortized cost (Note 3) 
● Trade receivables ECL (Note 4) 
● Impairment of investment in subsidiary (Note 5) 
● Useful lives of property and equipment (Note 6) 
● Realization of DIT assets (Note 7) 
● Calculation of defined benefit obligation (Note 15) 
● Determining the lease term and incremental borrowing rate of the lease contract (Note 17) 
 
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

 
(a) Amendments to existing standards adopted by the Company 
 
The Company has adopted the following amendments to existing standards effective January 1, 2022: 
 
• Amendment to PAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’  

 
The amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset 
for its intended use. It also clarifies that an entity is ‘testing whether the asset is functioning properly’ 
when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset.  
 

• Amendment to PFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’  
 
Amendments were made to update the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting and add an exception for the recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities within the 
scope of PAS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ and Interpretation 21, 
Levies. 

 
• Amendment to PAS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’  

 
The amendment clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental 
costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling the 
contracts. Before recognizing a separate provision for an onerous contract, the entity recognizes any 
impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract. 
 

• Annual improvements to PFRS Standards 2018-2020  
 
The following improvements were finalized in May 2020: 

 
i. PFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, clarifies which fees should be included in the 10% test for 

derecognition of financial liabilities. 
 

ii. PFRS 16 ‘Leases’, amendment of illustrative example 13 to remove the illustration of 
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements, to remove any confusion about 
the treatment of lease incentives. 
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The adoption of the above amendments did not have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
Company. 
 
(b) Amendments to existing standards not yet effective and not early adopted by the Company 
 
The following amendments to existing standards are not mandatory for December 31, 2022 reporting 
period and have not been early adopted by the Company: 
 
• Amendments to PAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2023) 
 
The amendments clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or noncurrent, depending on 
the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations 
of the entity or events after the reporting date (e.g. the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). 
The amendments also clarify what PAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. 
 
In addition, PAS 1 requires entities to disclose their material rather than their significant accounting 
policies. The amendments define what is ‘material accounting policy information’ and explain how to 
identify when accounting policy information is material. They further clarify that immaterial 
accounting policy information does not need to be disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure 
material accounting information. 

 
• Amendment to PAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023) 
 
The amendment clarifies how companies should distinguish changes in accounting policies from 
changes in accounting estimates. The distinction is important, because changes in accounting 
estimates are applied prospectively to future transactions and other future events, but changes in 
accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to past transactions and other past events as 
well as the current period. 
 

• Amendments to PAS 12, ‘Income Taxes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
January 1, 2023)  
 
The amendments require entities to recognize DIT on transactions that, on initial recognition, give 
rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. They will typically apply to 
transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning obligations and will require the 
recognition of additional DIT assets and liabilities. The amendment should be applied to transactions 
that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In addition, entities 
should recognize DIT assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be utilized) and DIT 
liabilities at the beginning of the earliest comparative period for all deductible and taxable temporary 
differences associated with (a) right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and (b) decommissioning, 
restoration and similar liabilities, and the corresponding amounts recognized as part of the cost of 
the related assets. The cumulative effect of recognizing these adjustments is recognized in retained 
earnings, or another component of equity, as appropriate. 
 

The adoption of the above amendments is not expected to have a material impact on the financial 
statements of the Company. 
  
There are no other new standards, amendments to existing standard or interpretations effective subsequent 
to December 31, 2022 that are relevant or expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
statements.  
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20.2 Exemption from consolidation 
 
These financial statements are prepared as the Company’s separate financial statements. The Company 
does not issue consolidated financial statements because it is a wholly-owned subsidiary and its ultimate 
parent company publishes consolidated financial statements which are available for public use and 
prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. In accordance with PFRS 10, 
Consolidated Financial Statements, a parent that is in itself a controlled subsidiary and that meets 
certain requirements need not present consolidated financial statements. The ultimate parent company’s 
consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary. 
 
20.3 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and time deposits with maturities of less than three months 
from the date of acquisition and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
20.4  Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. The Company recognizes a financial instrument in the 
statements of condition when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
20.4.1  Measurement methods 
 
Amortized cost and effective interest rate 
 
The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the 
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for 
financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset (i.e. its amortized cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortized cost of a 
financial liability. The calculation does not consider ECL and includes transaction costs, premiums or 
discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as 
origination fees. 
 
When the Company revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective 
financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original 
effective interest rate. Any changes are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognized on trade-date, the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or 
minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are 
incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, 
such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at 
FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.  
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When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial 
recognition, the entity recognizes the difference as follows: 
 
● When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 

liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable 
markets, the difference is recognized as a gain or loss. 

● In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit 
or loss is determined individually. It is either amortized over the life of the instrument, deferred until 
the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realized through 
settlement. 

 
20.4.2    Financial assets 
 
20.4.2.1   Classification and subsequent measurement  

 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: at FVTPL, FVOCI 
and at amortized cost. The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described 
below: 
 
Debt instruments 
 
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s 
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from 
clients in factoring arrangements without recourse. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on the Company’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 
 
Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three 
measurement categories: 
 
● Amortized cost 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at 
amortized cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance recognized and 
measured. Interest income from these financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the 
effective interest rate method. Amortized cost financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, 
investments in debt securities, trade receivables and other financial receivables. 

 
● FVOCI 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where 
the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at FVOCI. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on 
the instrument’s amortized cost which are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. 
When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate method.  

 
● FVTPL 

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or 
loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL and is not part of a hedging 
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and presented in the statements of comprehensive income 
within “Trading gain on securities” in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt 
instruments that were designated at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which case the are 
presented separately.  
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Business model: The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate 
cash flows. That is, whether the Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from 
the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If 
neither of these is applicable, then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and 
measured at FVTPL. Factors considered by the Company in determining the business model for a group 
of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s 
performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and 
managed and how managers are compensated.  
 
SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows 
represent SPPI. In making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are 
consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of 
money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent 
with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. 
 
The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the 
change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that 
is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in 
the issuer’s net assets.  
 
The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at FVTPL, except where the Company’s 
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at FVOCI. 
The Company’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for 
purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and 
losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or 
loss, even on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately 
from other changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to 
be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is 
established. Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in the “Trading gain on 
securities” in the statements of comprehensive income. 
 
20.4.2.2   Impairment of financial assets 
 
(a) Trade and other receivables 
 
The Company applies the PFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade and other financial receivables. 
 
To measure the ECL, trade and other receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due.  
 
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of customers over a period of 36 month and 
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are 
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the 
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Company has identified the domestic GDP and the 
inflation rate to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on 
expected changes in these factors. 
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(b) Debt investments 
 
All of the Company’s debt investments at amortized cost and FVOCI are considered to have low credit 
risk, and the loss allowance recognized is therefore limited to 12-month ECL. Management considers 
“low credit risk” for listed bonds to be an investment grade credit rating with at least one major rating 
agency. Other debt instruments are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low risk of default 
and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.  
 
20.4.2.3   Derecognition of financial assets  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets has ceased to exist or the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.  
 
20.4.3 Financial liabilities 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities as: (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL (including financial 
liabilities held for trading and those that are designated at fair value); and (ii) other financial liabilities 
measured at amortized cost. 
 
20.4.3.1   Classification  
 
(a) Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
 
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial liabilities classified as held for trading, and 
financial liabilities designated by the Company as at FVTPL upon initial recognition. 
 
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial 
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 
short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated 
and effective as hedging instruments. Financial liabilities held for trading also include obligations to 
deliver financial assets borrowed by a short seller. The Company has no financial liabilities that are held 
for trading or designated at FVTPL. 
 
(b) Other liabilities measured at amortized cost 
 
The Company’s other financial liabilities at amortized cost comprise mainly of accounts payable and 
other liabilities (except for payables to the Bureau of Internal Revenue and other government agencies 
for taxes and remittances and advances from a customer), which are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method. These are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 
12 months after the reporting date or when the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current liabilities. 
 
20.4.3.2   Recognition and measurement 
 
(a) Recognition 
 
Financial liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
(b) Measurement 
 
Financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are 
expensed in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities carried at amortized cost are initially recognized at 
fair value plus transaction cost.  
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Financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are subsequently carried at fair value. Other financial liabilities at 
amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL, 
including interest and dividend income and interest expense, are presented in profit or loss within other 
income (expenses) in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL is 
recognized in profit or loss as part of other income when the Company’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
 
(c) Derecognition 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when it is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in a 
contract is discharged or cancelled, or when the obligation expires. When an existing financial liability is 
replaced by another financial liability from the same creditor with substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original financial liability and a recognition of a new financial liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss within finance costs. 
 
20.5 Derivative financial instruments 
 
A derivative instrument is initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into, and is subsequently remeasured to its fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting 
for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument or is held for trading.  
 
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting (and 
therefore, held for trading) are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
At inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents the economic relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging 
instruments are expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged items.  
 
When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging in 
equity at that time shall be reclassified to profit or loss in the same periods during which the future cash 
flows affect profit or loss. When the future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging that were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to 
profit or loss. 
 
Derivatives are not deemed significant for financial reporting purposes. 

 
20.6 Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally 
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course 
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty. 
 
There are no offsetting of financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
20.7 Determination of fair value of financial instruments 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
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The fair value of a non-financial asset is measured based on its highest and best use. The asset’s current 
use is presumed to be its highest and best use. 
 
The fair value of financial and non-financial liabilities takes into account non-performance risk, which is 
the risk that the entity will not fulfill an obligation. 
 
The Company classifies its fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels: 
 
● Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level 

includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges (for example: PSE, Philippine 
Dealing and Exchange Corp., etc.). 

 
● Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). This level 
includes the majority of the over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contracts. The primary source of 
input parameters like LIBOR yield curve or counterparty credit risk is Bloomberg. 

 
● Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable 
components. This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available.  

 
The appropriate level is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the most representative price within the 
bid-ask spread. These instruments are included in Level 1.  
 
The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize 
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the asset or 
liability is included in Level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market 
data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.  
 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 
 
● Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments. 
● The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash 

flows based on observable yield curves. 
● The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at 

the reporting date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value. 
● Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the 

remaining financial instruments. 
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20.8 Investments in subsidiaries  
 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when it 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Company also assesses existence of control 
where it does not have more than 50% of the voting power but is able to govern the financial and 
operating policies by virtue of de-facto control. De-facto control may arise in circumstances where the 
size of the Company’s voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of other shareholders 
give the Company the power to govern the financial and operating policies. 
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company.  
They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
The Company applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations.  
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued 
by the Company. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, 
the Company recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through 
profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Company is recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to 
be an asset or liability is recognized in accordance with PFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change to 
other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, 
and its subsequent settlement is not accounted for within equity. 
  
The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the 
fair value of the Company’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the 
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss.  
 
When the Company ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair 
value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. 
The fair value is the initial carrying amount for purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained 
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized 
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Company had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
As allowed under PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, investment in a wholly-owned subsidiary 
is accounted for at cost method in the separate financial statements of the Company. Under this method, 
income from investment is recognized in the statement of income only to the extent that the investor 
receives distributions from accumulated net income of the investee arising subsequent to the date of 
acquisition. 
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20.9 Other assets 
 
Other assets are recognized in the event that payment has been made in advance of obtaining right of 
access to goods or receipt of services and measured at nominal amounts. These are derecognized upon 
delivery of goods or when services have been rendered, through amortization over a certain period of 
time, and use or consumption.  
 
Creditable withholding tax is recognized as asset to the extent that it is probable that the benefit will flow 
to the Company. This are derecognized when applied against the related tax liability or refunded by the 
tax authorities as prescribed by the relevant tax laws. 
 
Other assets are included in current assets, except when the related goods or services are expected to be 
received or rendered more than twelve (12) months after the reporting date, which are then classified as 
non-current assets. 
 
20.10  Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the statement of income during the year in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost or residual values over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
  

Computer equipment 3 years 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years 
Office space and leasehold improvements 4 years 
Right-of-use assets Shorter of lease term and useful life of 4 years 

 
Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset. 
 
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
The Company derecognizes the carrying amount of an item of property and equipment on disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
included in the statement of income. 
 
20.11 Software costs 
 
Acquired software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. These costs are amortized over their estimated useful life of three (3) years. 
 
Cost associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense when 
incurred. 
 



 

38 
 

The carrying amount of software costs is derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from derecognition is recognized in profit 
or loss. 
 
20.12  Accounts payable and other liabilities 
 
Accounts payable and other liabilities are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired 
in the ordinary course of business. These are recognized in the period in which the related money, goods 
or services are received or when a legally enforceable claim against the Company is established or when 
the corresponding assets and expenses are recognized. Accounts payable and other liabilities are 
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, these are presented as 
non-current liabilities. These are measured at the original invoice amount (as the effect of discounting is 
immaterial) and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Accounts payable and other liabilities are derecognized when it is extinguished, that is, when the 
obligation specified in a contract is discharged or cancelled, or when the obligation expires. 
 
20.13 Provisions  
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.  
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized in 
profit or loss. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed and derecognized in the statement of financial 
position.  
 
20.14 Income taxes 
 
The income tax expense for the period comprises current and DIT. Income tax is recognized in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
DIT is recognized on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statement. DIT is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date and are expected to apply when the related DIT 
asset is realized, or the DIT liability is settled.  
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DIT assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax losses 
(net operating loss carryover or NOLCO) and unused tax credits (excess minimum corporate income tax 
or MCIT) to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilized. DIT assets arising from NOLCO and excess MCIT are recognized 
to the extent that it is probable that the Company will have future taxable profit before any unused tax 
losses or unused tax credits expire as prescribed by the relevant tax provisions.  
 
DIT liabilities are the amounts of income taxes payable in future periods in respect of taxable temporary 
differences. DIT liabilities are recognized in full for all taxable temporary differences. 
 
DIT assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the DIT assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on the taxable entity and where there is an intention to settle the balances on a 
net basis. 
 
The Company has substantial income from its investment in government securities subject to final 
withholding tax. Such income is presented at its gross amount and the tax paid or withheld is included in 
Current provision for income tax. 
 
The Company re-assesses at each reporting date the need to derecognize a previously recognized DIT 
asset. 
 
20.15 Income and expense recognition 
 
(a) Revenue from fees and commissions 
 
The Company recognizes revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to a customer (i.e. an asset). An asset is transferred when (or as) 
the customer obtains control of that asset. 
 
The recognition of revenue can be either over time or at a point in time depending on when the 
performance obligation is satisfied.  
 
When control of a good or service is transferred over time, that is, when the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits, the Company satisfies the performance obligation and recognizes 
revenue over time. Otherwise, revenue is recognized at the point in time at the point of transfer control of 
the good or service to the customer.  
 
Variable consideration is measured using either the expected value method or the most likely amount 
method depending on which method the Company expects to better predict the amount of consideration 
to which it will be entitled. This is the estimated amount of variable consideration, or the portion, if any, 
of that amount for which it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognized will not occur. Where there is a single performance obligation, the transaction price 
is allocated in its entirety to that performance obligation. Where there are multiple performance 
obligations, the transaction price is allocated to the performance obligation to which it relates based on 
stand-alone selling prices. 
 
The Company recognizes revenue based on the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated 
rebates/discounts and include variable consideration, if there is any. Accumulated experience is used to 
estimate and provide for the discounts and revenue is only recognized to the extent that it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal will not occur.  
 
The Company does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the 
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a 
consequence, the Company does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 
 
There are no warranties and other similar obligation and refunds agreed with customers. 
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Fees and commission income from underwriting, loan syndication and financial advisory activities are 
recognized in the period the related services are rendered and completed and the right to receive 
payment is established. 
 
(b) Other income 
  
Other income is recognized when earned and the Company’s right to receive payment is established.  
 
(c) Cost and expenses 
 
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefit related to 
a decrease in an asset, or an increase in a liability has arisen, that can be measured reliably. 
 
Brokerage fees and underwriting fees pertain to payments made by the Company to broker-dealers for 
brokering and underwriting services rendered related to certain underwritten deals. 
 
20.16 Employee benefits 
 
(a) Pension benefits 
 
The Company has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a 
pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate 
fund. Under a defined contribution plan, the Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating 
to employee service in the current and prior periods. 
 
Defined benefit plan 
 
The Company’s defined benefit plan is funded through payments to a trustee-administered fund as 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations.  
 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit 
credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in 
Philippine Peso, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement 
benefit obligation. 
 
The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan 
assets. In cases when the amount determined results in a surplus (being an excess of the fair value of the 
plan assets over the present value of the defined benefit obligation), the Company measures the resulting 
asset at the lower of the surplus in the defined benefit plan and the present value of future benefits in the 
form of refunds or reductions in future contributions to the plan.  
 
Restricted or non-transferrable assets of the fund are excluded in the determination of the fair value of 
plan assets. 
 
Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income under remeasurement loss 
or gain in the period in which they arise.  
 
All past service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
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The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included as part of retirement benefit expense 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that 
relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. The 
Company recognizes gains or losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement 
occurs. 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
The Company also maintains a defined contribution plan that covers certain full-time employees. Under 
its defined contribution plan, the Company pays fixed contributions based on the employees’ monthly 
salaries to a privately trusteed-administered fund. Contribution is determined by periodic actuarial 
calculations and compensation. The Company, however, is covered under RA No. 7641, otherwise known 
as The Philippine Retirement Law, which provides for its qualified employees a defined benefit minimum 
guarantee. The defined benefit minimum guarantee is equivalent to a certain percentage of the monthly 
salary payable to an employee at normal retirement age with the required credited years of service based 
on the provisions of RA No. 7641. Accordingly, the Company accounts for its retirement obligation under 
the higher of the defined benefit obligation relating to the minimum guarantee and the obligation arising 
from the defined contribution plan.  
 
For the defined benefit minimum guarantee plan, the liability is determined based on the present value 
of the excess of the projected defined benefit obligation over the projected defined contribution 
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by a 
qualified independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.  
 
The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan 
assets. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in 
which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related 
pension liability. The fair value of plan asset is the defined contribution assets upon which the defined 
contribution benefits depend, with an adjustment for margin on asset returns, if any, where this is 
reflected in the defined contribution benefits. 
 
The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 
contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when these are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. 
 
Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
arise. 
 
Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
(b) Profit-sharing and bonus plans 
 
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula 
that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholder after certain 
adjustments. The Company recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
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(c) Share-based compensation 
 
The Company’s management awards high-performing employees bonuses in the form of options to 
purchase Parent Bank’s common shares, from time to time, on a discretionary basis. The options are 
subject to certain service vesting conditions. 
 
The fair value of the services received is measured by reference to the fair value of the shares or share 
options granted on the date of the grant. The grant by BPI of the options over its equity instruments to 
the employees of the Company is recorded in equity. The fair value of employee services received by the 
Company in respect of the options granted is recognized in profit or loss over the period that the services 
are received, which is the vesting period. The Company is recharged by BPI for the share-based payment 
when the award vests. The subsidiary recognizes the recharge over the vesting period as a charge to 
equity. 
 
The fair value of the options granted is determined using option pricing models which take into account 
the exercise price of the option, the current share price, the risk-free interest rate, the expected volatility 
of the share price over the life of the option and other relevant factors. 
 
When the stock options are exercised, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs, are credited to share capital (par value) and share premium for the excess of exercise price over par 
value.  
 
(d) Termination benefits 
 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal 
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 
The Company recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Company 
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a 
restructuring that is within the scope of PAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the 
case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based 
on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value. 
 
20.17 Share capital; retained earnings 
 
Common shares are classified as equity and are measured at par value for all shares issued. The amount 
of proceeds from the issuance or sale of shares representing the aggregate par or stated value is credited 
to share capital. Proceeds in excess of the aggregate par or stated value of shares, if any, are credited to 
share premium. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in 
equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. 
 
After initial recognition, share capital and share premium are carried at historical cost and are classified 
as equity in the statement of financial position. 
 
Retained earnings represent the accumulated profit or loss as a result of the operations of the Company 
less any dividends declared. 
 
20.18 Dividends on common shares 
 
Dividends on common shares are recognized in the period in which they are approved by the BOD. 
 
20.19 Leases (the Company is the lessee) 
 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The interest 
expense is recognized in the statements of income over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
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Measurement of lease liabilities 
 
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: 
 
● fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable 
● variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate 
● amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees 
● the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option 
● payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 

option. 
 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability. 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment 
with similar terms, security and conditions. 
 
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company: 
 
● where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, 

adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received, 
● uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases 

held for entities which do not have recent third-party financing, and 
● makes adjustments specific to the lease (i.e. term, currency and security). 
 
Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest expense. The interest expense is charged to 
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. 
 
Measurement of right-of-use assets 
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 
 
● the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability, 
● any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, 
● any initial direct costs, and 
● restoration costs. 
 
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term 
on a straight-line basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.  
 
Extension and termination options 
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). The lease term is reassessed if an option is 
actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Company becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The 
assessment of reasonable certainty is revised only if a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee.  
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-
line basis as an expense in the statements of income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office furniture. 
 
Lease modification 
 
Lease modifications are accounted either as a separate lease or not a separate lease. The Company 
accounts for the lease modification as a separate lease if both: 
 

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right of use to one or more underlying 
assets; and 

• the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for 
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the 
circumstances of the particular contract. 
 

For lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease, at the effective date of lease 
modification, the Company: 
 

• allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of 
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components; 

• determine the lease term of the modified lease; and 

• remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 
 
The revised discount rate is determined as the interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the 
lease term, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification, if the 
interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. 
 
For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Company accounts for the 
remeasurement of the lease liability by: 
 
• decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of 

the lease for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease; and  

• making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset for all other lease modifications. 
 
The Company recognizes in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the 
lease. 
 
20.20 Related party relationships and transactions 
 
Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly through 
one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercises significant influence over the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or among entities 
which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between, and/or among the reporting 
enterprise and its key management personnel, directors, or its shareholder. In considering each possible 
related party relationships, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely the 
legal form. 
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20.21 Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial 
statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Philippine Peso using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign 
currency transactions and from the translation at the year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
20.22 Reclassification 

 
Certain amounts in the 2021 financial statements have been reclassified to reflect a more appropriate and 
more meaningful presentation for its users. Such reclassifications did not affect the previously reported 
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows. 
 
Presented below is the effect of the reclassification in the Company’s statement of financial position: 
 

December 31, 2021 
As previously 

stated Effect of reclassification As reclassified 

Assets    
Investment securities    

Financial asset at FVTPL 877,673,574 399,396,084 1,277,069,658 
Financial asset at FVOCI 1,324,670,471 (399,396,084) 925,274,387 

Total assets 3,498,463,924 - 3,498,463,924 

Equity    

Accumulated reserves  3,967,142 (131,280,723) (127,313,581) 
Retained earnings 2,578,566,122 131,280,723 2,709,846,845 

Total equity 3,349,332,364 - 3,349,332,364 

 
The above reclassifications do not have a material impact on the financial statements, thus not requiring 
a three-year balance sheet presentation. 
 
20.23 Subsequent events  
 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the end of the 
reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events that 
are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material.  
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Note 21 - Supplementary information required by Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010 
 
The following information is presented for purposes of filing with the BIR and is not a required part of 
the basic financial statements. 
 
(i) Withholding taxes 
 
Withholding taxes accrued and/or withheld and paid as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022 
consists of:  

 

 Paid   Accrued Total 

Income taxes withheld on compensation  32,801,179 4,754,779 37,555,958 
Final income taxes withheld on income payment 1,995,290 176,529 2,171,819 
Creditable income taxes withheld (expanded) 2,657,845 324,815 2,982,660 
Fringe benefit tax 945,277 139,321 1,084,598 
VAT withholding tax  983,448 88,960 1,072,408 

 39,383,039 5,484,404 44,867,443 

 
Accrued withholding taxes are presented as part of Accounts payable and other liabilities in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
(ii) All other local and national taxes 
 
All other local and national taxes paid/accrued for the year ended December 31, 2022 consist of: 
 

 Paid  Accrued  Total 

Gross receipts tax 58,079,604 7,924,734 66,004,338 
Municipal taxes/Mayor’s permit  49,303 - 49,303 
Others 563,377 - 563,377 

 58,692,284 7,924,734 66,617,018 

 
(iii) Tax assessment 
 
As at December 31, 2022, the Company did not have outstanding preliminary or final assessment. 
 
(iv) Tax cases 
 
As at reporting date, the Company has no outstanding tax cases under preliminary investigation, 
litigation and/or prosecution in courts or bodies outside the BIR.




